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Supreme Court No.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ) Court of Appeal No. D055698
CALIFORNIA, ) Superior Court No. FVA024527
)
Plaintiff-Respondent, )
)
V. )
)
PERLA ISABEL GONZALEZ, )
)
Defendant-Appellant. )
)

Appeal From the Superior Court of San Bernardino County
Honorable Michael A. Knish, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

To The Honorable Ronald M. George, Chief Justice, And The Honorable Associate
Justices Of The Supreme Court Of The State Of California:

Petitioner and appellant, Perla Gonzalez, seeks review in this Court following an
unpublished decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One filed
December 9, 2010, affirming petitioner's convictions for premeditated attempted murder (§§

664/187, subd. (a)) and first degree murder (§ 187, subd. (a)). A copy of that decision is

attached to this Petition as Appendix "A".



QUESTION PRESENTED

1. Whether the trial court prejudicially erred by failing to instruct the jury that petitioner
must have personally acted with premeditation and deliberation to be found guilty of
first degree provocative act murder?

2. In a prosecution for provocative act murder, is the trial court required to instruct the
jury on principles of self-defense where there is evidence the actual perpetrator of the
killing committed an independent criminal act and did not act in lawful self-defense?

3. Whether insufficient evidence supported petitioner’s conviction for provocative act
murder in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution?

4. Whether the trial court violated petitioner’s Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment
rights to due process and a jury trial by failing to instruct the jury it could not convict
petitioner of provocative act murder if the accomplice committed the acts causing his
own death?

5. Whether the trial court violated petitioner’s Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights
of due process and a fair trial by refusing petitioner’s request for an instruction on the
lesser included offense of involuntary manslaughter?

NECESSITY FOR REVIEW
A jury convicted petitioner of first degree provocative act murder. The trial court
failed to instruct the jury that they must find petitioner personally acted with premeditation

and deliberation, required for a first degree murder conviction based on a provocative act



theory. (People v. Concha (2009) 47 Cal.4th 653) During deliberations, the jury requested
instructions on second degree murder, and the court referred the jury to the erroneous
instructions informing them they could convict petitioner of first degree murder based on
a finding that her accomplice alone premeditated and deliberated the crime.

A majority of the Court of Appeal found this error was harmless beyond a reasonable
doubt. In dissent, Justice Cynthia Aaron reasoned that the error was not harmless beyond a
reasonable doubt because (1) the deliberating jury requested an explanation of second degree
murder; (2) the court gave them the incorrect instruction, and (3) evidence of the
accomplice’s culpable mental state was stronger than petitioner’s, increasing the likelihood
that this jury, struggling with the issue of petitioner’s mental state, relied on the erroneous
instruction to convict petitioner of first degree murder.

In deliberations, the jury requested guidance on evaluating her mental state. The trial
court misguided the jury at a critical time on a critical issue. As dissenting Justice Aaron
noted, citing People v. Thompkins (1987) 195 Cal.App.3d 244, 252-253, there is no category
of misinstruction that is more prejudicial. (See also, People v. Beeman (1984) 35 Cal.3d 547,
562-563 [likelihood of prejudice increased when court provides erroneous instructions to the
jury during deliberations|; People v. Miller (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 653 [same].)

The majority of the Court of Appeal assessed prejudice based on an evaluation of
whether a “hypothetical” rational jury could find petitioner premeditated and deliberated.

This standard transfers to the Court of Appeal the jury’s function of deciding guilt beyond



a reasonable doubt with proper legal guidance. The question is not, as framed by the Court
of Appeal, whether there is “evidence before [the appellate court] show[ing] a rational jury
would have found Perla personally deliberated and premeditated,” but whether the
prosecution has proved beyond a reasonable doubt that tAis jury did not find petitioner’s guilt
based on an incorrect legal principle. Review should be granted to provide guidance to the
courts of appeal regarding the evaluation of prejudicial error.

Review should also be granted to determine whether the prosecution must proveb
beyond a reasonable doubt that the alleged victim killed lawfully in self defense to find a
defendant guilty of murder under the provocative act doctrine. Here, the evidence
established that the alleged victim shot petitioner’s accomplice three times in the back as he
ran from him, and again while the accomplice was laying on the ground. The jury was not
instructed that they must find the alleged victim lawfully killed in self-defense to find
petitioner guilty of murder.

The Court of Appeal held that the provocative act doctrine is governed exclusively
by principles of proximate cause, and there is no requirement that the killing be lawfully
perpetrated. No reported cases squarely address this issue, but courts have stated the use of
lethal force must be privileged and lawful. This Court should address the unresolved

question of whether the prosecution must prove the killing was lawful to find a defendant

guilty of first degree murder.



STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
The factual and procedural history of the case stated in the Court of Appeal’s opinion
is sufficient for the purpose of this petition, except as otherwise noted.
I
THE TRIAL COURT’S ERRONEQOUS INSTRUCTIONTO
THE DELIBERATING JURY, PERMITTING THEM TO

FIND PETITIONER PREMEDITATED THE MURDER
BASED ON MORALES’ MENTAL STATE, WAS

PREJUDICIAL

Recently, in People v. Concha, supra, 47 Cal.4th 653, this Court held that first degree
murder liability is available for provocative-act murder, but only if a properly instructed jury
finds defendant personally acted wilfully, deliberately, and with premeditation.

Here, the jury was instructed it could find petitioner guilty of first degree
premeditated attempted murder based on Morales’ state of mind only. During deliberations,
the jury sent the court a note requesting an instruction on second degree murder. (2 CT 405.)
The court referred the jury to CALCRIM 560, which referred the jury back to the instruction
that allowed them to find petitioner premeditated the murder based on Morales’ mental state
only.

A majority of the Court of Appeal concluded the court committed error, but found it
harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (Opinion, p. 32-33.) The Court reasoned that there
was evidence in the record to support a rational jury’s finding that petitioner premeditated

the crime based on petitioner’s planned assault on Canas; driving to the scene with the loaded
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rifle; and handing the rifle to Morales. (Opinion, p. 33.)

This evidence also supports a second degree murder without premeditation or an
assault with a ﬁrearm. Petitioner’s counsel in closing argued that petitioner was not aware
of Morales’ plan, and even if she was aware of the plan, the plan was to beat up Canas, not
kill him. (9 RT 1749-1752.) Petitioner did not make any statements during the attack and
did not immediately grab the gun when the two started fighting, but only took the gun out
when it appeared Canas was winning the battle. The issue of petitioner’s mental state was
vigorously contested at trial; it was the critical issue for a properly instructed jury to decide.

As the dissenting Justice pointed out, the question is not whether a “hypothetical”
rational jury could find petitioner premeditated and deliberated, but whether this jury could
have found petitioner’s guilt based on their application of the trial court’s erroneous legal
instruction. The Court of Appeal majority, quoting People v. Concha (2010) 182
Cal.App.4th 1072, 1089, states it was required to “review the entire record to dete.rmine
whether it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have made the
necessary findings of premeditation and deliberation absent the error.” [Italics in original.]
(Opinion, p. 30.) This does not mean that the appellate court should operate in a vacuum and
“ignore the fact that the actual jury specifically requested an instruction on second degree
murder and that in response the court directed the jury to an instruction that misstated the

critical intent element.” {Italics in original.] (J. Aaron, Dissenting and Concurring Opinion,

p. 4-5.)



The majority failed to take into account the juror’s question and the court’s incorrect
response in assessing prejudice. Review should be granted to provide the courts of appeal
with guidance regarding the assessment of prejudicial error.

IL
THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE
INSTRUCTED THE JURY THAT THE HOMICIDE
OF MORALES MUST HAVE BEEN LAWFUL
AND JUSTIFIED IN SELF-DEFENSE TO FIND
APPELLANT GUILTY OF PROVOCATIVE-ACT
MURDER

The undisputed evidence was that Canas shot the unarmed Morales three times in the
back while Morales retreated. A jury could have concluded that Canas was not legally
justified in killing Morales, which would have cut off petitioner’s liability for the homicide.
The issue of whether Canas acted justifiably should have been submitted to the jury with self-
defense instructions.

The Court of Appeal held no self-defense instruction as to Canas was required
because “the issue of whether the killing was lawfully justified is rooted in principles of
proximate cause, not self-defense.” (Opinion, p. 36.) To establish murder based on a

provocative act theory, the prosecution is required to prove the killing is not an independent

criminal act; if the killer has no privilege to use lethal force, then liability for provocative act

murder should be cut off.



When “the defendant or his accomplice, with conscious disregard for life,
intentionally commits an act that is likely to cause death, and the victim or police officer kill
in reasonable response to such an act, the defendant is guilty of murder.” [Emphasis added.]
(People v. Caldwell (1984) 36 Cal.3d 210, 216. fn. 2; People v. Antick, supra, 15 Cal.3d at
p- 88.) The provocative act doctrine “has traditionally been invoked in cases in which the
perpetrator of the underlying crime instigates a gun battle, either by firing first or by
otherwise engaging in severe, life-threatening, unusually gun wielding conduct, and the
police, or a victim of the underlying crime, responds with privileged lethal force by shooting
back and killing the perpetrator’s accomplice or an innocent bystander.” [Emphasis added.]
(People v. Cervantes (2001) 26 Cal.4th 860, 867.)

Under the provocative act doctrine, the inquiry should focus on “an objective view of
the facts” rather than on the “crime victim’s state of mind.” (People v. Briscoe (2001) 92
Cal.App.4th 568, 593.) An essential part of such an objective inquiry must be whether the
victim’s response was objectively reasonable, requiring a jury determination of whether a
person in the victim’s situation would have responded as did the victim. (See People v.
Humphrey (1996) 13 Cal.4th 1073, 1083.) The underlying premise is that the victim is acting
lawfully in self-defense in perpetrating the killing as a reasonable response to a dilemma
thrust upon him or her by the provocative acts of the defendant or his accomplice. If the
perpetrator engages in an “independent criminal act,” the accused’s liability for the homicide

is cut off by this superseding intervening event. (See CALCRIM 560; People v. Cervantes,



supra, 26 Cal.4th 860, 874.) The jury must be instructed on the relevant legal principles to
determine whether the actual perpetrator engaged in an “independent criminal act” or instead
was legally justified in his act of killing.

Thus, although provocative act murder is “rooted in principles of proximate
causation,” the jury must be guided on the principles relevant to their determination of
whether the perpetrator engaged in an “independent criminal act” or whether the use of lethal
force was justified and privileged. In this case, where the evidence suggests the actual
perpetrator was not legally justified in shooting the accomplice three times in the back while
he retreated and once as he laid on the ground, the jury should have been instructed that it
must find Canas acted in self defense before they could find petitioner guilty of murder.

If Canas was no longer in danger where he used lethal force, the killing would not be
justified self-defense. (CALCRIM No. 3474; People v. Martin (1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 1000,
1010.) The jury could have determined that Canas was not acting in self-defense at the time
he shot Morales. When Canas shot Morales in the back, Morales was running away from
Canas. (2 RT 327-328.) Although Canas had a right of self-defense when he was first
attacked by Morales and struggled over the gun with him, this does not establish that Canas
acted in self-defense when he shot Morales while Morales retreated. Because Moraies
retreated before Canas mortally shot him in the back, the issue should have been submitted

to the jury to determine whether Canas’ actions were justified.

Where a trial court fails to properly instruct the jury regarding an element of the



charged crime, the court commits “‘a constitutional error that deprives the defendant of due
process.”” (Conde v. Henry (2000) 198 ¥.3d 734, 741, quoting Hennessy v. Goldsmith (9"
Cir. 1991) 929 F.2d 511, 514.) Here, the trial court failed to adequately instruct the jury
regarding the provocative act doctrine in violation of appellant’s due process and jury trial
rights. (Estelle v. McGuire (1991) 502 U.S. 62, 72.) The error deprived petitioner of her
Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment right to due process and her Sixth Amendment right to a
jury trial. (Conde v. Henry, supra, 198 F.3d atp. 741.) .
1.

PETITIONER’S CONVICTION FOR PROVOCATIVE-

ACT MURDER VIOLATES THE FOURTEENTH

AMENDMENT BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE WAS

INSUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE CONVICTION.

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment is violated when the evidence
is insufficient to sustain a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (Jackson v. Virginia
(1979)443 U.S. 307, 317.) Here, petitioner was convicted of murder based on her vicarious
liability for the acts of her accomplice, Fernando Morales. But because Morales could not
himself have been guilty of his own murder, Morales’ provocative acts cannot be used to
convict petitioner of murder. (People v. Antick (1975) 15 Cal.3d 79, 91-92, overruled on
other grounds in People v. McCoy (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1111.) Petitioner’s acts alone were not
sufficiently egregious to provoke a lethal response, and her conviction for first degree

murder, not supported by sufficient evidence, violates the Fourteenth Amendment.

In a prosecution for provocative-act murder, the state must prove beyond a reasonable
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doubt the following two elements: (1) the defendant or his non-decedent accomplice must
intentionally commit an act that involves a high degree of probability that the act will result
in death; and (2) the conduct of the defendant or his non-decedent accomplice must be
sufficiently provocative of a lethal response by a third party to support a finding of malice.
(Peoplev. Caldwell (1984)36 Cal.3d 210,216-217; Inre Joe R. (1980) 27 Cal.3d 496, 504.)
“To satisfy the ‘mens rea’ element, the defendant or his confederate must know that his act
has a ‘high probability’ not merely a ‘foreseeable possibility’ of eliciting a life-threatening
response from the third party.” (Inre Aurelio R. (1985) 167 Cal.App.3d 52, 57.) “To satisfy
the ‘actus reus’ element of this crime the defendant or one of his confederates must commit
an act which provokes a third party into firing the fatal shot.” (/bid.)

The jury did not believe petitioner discharged the gun because it found the allegation
that petitioner discharged a firearm not true. (2 CT 412.) Thus, her murder liability would
have to be based on her act of giving Morales the gun with the hammer pulled back.

A person who initiates a gun battle in the course of committing a felony intentionally
and with a conscious disregard for life commits an act that is likely to cause death. (People
v. Antick, supra, 15 Cal.3d at p. 91.) The defendant must initiate the gun battle or engage in
a life-threatening act that proximately causes the decedent’'s death to be guilty of
provocative-act murder as the following cases demonstrate.

In In re Joe R., supra, 27 Cal.3d 496, this Court reversed a provocative-act murder

conviction where there was no evidence of “life-threatening acts” on the part of a minor who

11



aided and abetted in the crime of armed robbery. In Joe R., the minor and his accomplice
robbed a Taco Bell at gunpoint, and while fleeing the scene stopped to rob another victim,
Anderson, who was waiting at a bus stop. Anderson was taken to a remote area where Joe
hit him from behind while the accomplice held Anderson at gunpoint. Anderson managed
to wrest the accomplice’s gun from him and shot the accomplice while Joe fled the scene.
(Id. atp. 501.)

On appeal, the minor argued the evidence was insufficient to sustain his murder
conviction based on the provocative act doctrine. This Court held that the minor’s acts of
moving the victim from relative safety, his repeated threats and references to the
accomplice’s gun, and the minor’s hitting the victim on the back of the head did not
constitute provocative acts sufficient to impose liability for the murder of his accomplice.
(/d. at pp. 506-507.)

Although the minor’s punching the victim Anderson was a malicious act taken in
conscious disregard for life and could have allowed the accomplice to prevail and shoot
Anderson, the act did not provoke Anderson’s lethal resistance and was not the proximate
cause of the accomplice’s death. (/nre Joe R., supra, 27 Cal.3d at p. 507.) The court noted
that none of the minor’s acts initiated the deadly assault which predictably produced a lethal
response from the victim. (/bid.)

Here, the Court of Appeal concluded there was sufficient evidence to sustain

petitioner’s murder conviction because she planned the assault and handed the loaded rifle
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to Morales after Canas go the better of him in the fight. (Opinion, p. 15.) Although she
drove with Morales to the scene and may have been aware of a plan to beat up Morales, these
were not malicious acts performed in conscious disregard for life that would provoke a lethal
resistance from Canas. Further, there was no evidence petitioner intended to kill Canas
during the confrontation. (Compare with In re Aurelio R. (1985) 167 Cal.App.3d 52
[evidence that defendant went to rival gang territory intending to kill a rival gang member
sufficient to support his provocative-act murder conviction].)

Petitioner’s act of handing the gun to Morales did not constitute a provocative act
taken in conscious disregard for life. As in Joe R., Morales had already initiated a lethal
battle with Canas by stabbing Canas with a knife. “By necessity, the provocative act must
occur before a victim may make a lethal response.” (People v. Briscoe (2001) 92
Cal.App.4th 568, 584.) Canas was legally justified in using lethal force to prevent the attack
by Morales before petitioner gave Morales the gun. Although handing Morales the gun
would have allowed Morales to prevail and shoot Canas, the act of handing off the gun did
not provoke Canas’ lethal reaction; Morales caused his own death by initiating the lethal
battle.

This case is close to Joe R. in that there was insufficient evidence that petitioner’s
conduct in aiding and abetting the attempted murder provoked Canas’ use of lethal force

against Morales. Petitioner’s conviction violates the Fourteenth Amendment because it is not

supported by sufficient evidence.
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IV.
THE TRIAL COURT’S FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE
JURY IT COULD NOT CONVICT PETITIONER BASED
ONLY ONHER ACCOMPLICE’SPROVOCATIVE ACTS
VIOLATED PETITIONER’S DUE PROCESS RIGHT

CALCRIM provides two instructions on the provocative act murder doctrine,
CALCRIM 560 and 561. The trial court erroneously instructed the jury with CALCRIM 560,
not the correct instruction, CALCRIM 561. When the prosecution proceeds under a theory
that the provocative act was committed by the defendant, the court should instruct with
CALCRIM No. 560. When the prosecution proceeds under the theory that provocative acts
were committed by an accomplice, as in this case, CALCRIM No. 561 is recommended.
(Bench Note, CALCRIM No. 560.)

A critical distinction between CALCRIM Nos. 560 and 561 relevant to this case is the
language instructing the jury to find the defendant not guilty if they decide that the only
provocative acts that caused the accomplice’s death were committed by the accomplice. A
bracketed portion of CALCRIM No. 561 provides: “[If you decide that the only provocative
actthatcaused  ’s<insertname of deceased accomplice> death was committedby
<insert name of deceased accomplice>, then the defendant is not guilty of s <insert
name of deceased accomplice> murder.]” The Bench Notes to CALCRIM No. 561 state: “If
a deceased accomplice participated in provocative acts leading to his or her own death, give

the bracketed sentence that begins, “If you decide that the only provocative act that caused

...” (CALCRIM No. 561, citing People v. Garcia (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 1324, 1330;
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Peoplev. Superior Court (Shamis) (1997) 58 Cal. App.4th 833, 846; People v. Antick, supra,
15 Cal.3d at p. 90.)

The court’s erroneous instruction allowed the jury to convict petitioner of provocative-
act murder based only on the acts of Morales, the decedent. The law on provocative-act
murder, however, clearly prohibits a conviction for the murder of a decedent accomplice
based on provocative acts committed by the same decedent accomplice. (Antick, supra, 15
Cal.3d at p. 91.) Morales was the aggressor in the fight and petitioner’s counsel argued at
trial that he alone initiated the confrontation and provoked the lethal response. (9 RT 1741,
1749-1750, 1762-1763, 1769, 1773.)

Where a trial court fails to properly instruct the jury regarding an element of the
charged crime, the court commits constitutional error that deprives the defendant of due
process. (Conde v. Henry, supra, 198 F.3d 734, 741.) The trial court erroneously instructed
the jury regarding the provocative act doctrine in violation of petitioner’s due process and
jury trial rights. (Estelle v. McGuire (1991) 502 U.S. 62, 72.)

The Court of Appeal held CALCRIM 560 adequately conveyed the principle that the
prosecution must prove that petitioner’s acts, not Morales,” proximately caused the death.
(Opinion, p. 24.) Although, as the court points out, CALCRIM 560 informed the jury that
the prosecution was required to prove petitioner committed a provocative act, the jury was
also instructed they could find petitioner committed the provocative act based on her aiding

and abetting Morales in the commission of the provocative act. (2 CT 363-371.) Thus, it
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would not be inconsistent for the jury to find petitioner aided and abetted Morales in the
crime of attempted murder, but that it was Morales’ provocative acts only that caused Canas’
death and provoked the lethal response. The omitted instruction allowed the jury to find
petitioner’s guilt based on Morales’ acts in violation of her federal constitutional right of due
process.
V.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL

ERROR BY FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON

THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF

INVOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER

Defense counsel requested the court instruct the jury on involuntary manslaughter

(§ 192, subd. (b)) based on petitioner’s act of brandishing the gun (§ 417). (2 RT 1597-
1600.) The trial court refused to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of |
involuntary manslaughter, stating that petitioner’s handing the gun to Morales proved she
acted with conscious disregard for life. (8§ RT 1617-1618.) The Court of Appeal adopted
this reasoning. (Opinion, p. 39.)

In determining whether an instruction on a lesser included offense is required, the
court does not determine the credibility of the defense evidence, but only whether there
was evidence which, if credited by the jury, was sufficient to raise a reasonable doubt.
(People v. Salas (2006) 37 Cal.4th 967, 982.) Depending on the circumstances

surrounding their conmimission, assault or brandishing may be predicate misdemeanors for

an involuntary manslaughter conviction. (People v. Cox, supra, 23 Cal.4th at p. 676
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[assault and battery]; People v. Hayden (1994) 22 Cal.App.4th 48, 58 [brandishing].)

Here, the jury could have concluded petitioner’s act of brandishing the gun was
dangerous to human life, but was not an act conducted with conscious disregard for life.
The jury could have found that petitioner brought out the gun intending to scare Canas and end
the fight, not kill Canas. The evidence supported this factual scenario. Petitioner did not bring
out the gun until Canas got the better of Morales, suggesting she did not plan to kill. Because the
facts support either a conscious disregard for life or just an intent to scare, the jury should have
been provided with the option of convicting petitioner of involuntary manslaughter, not murder.

Due process requires that the jury be instructed on a lesser included offense if the
evidence warrants such an instruction. (Hopper v. Evans (1982) 456 U.S. 605, 611,
People v. Avena (1996) 13 Cal.4th 394, 424.) The trial court’s failure to instruct on the
requested lesser included offense deprived appellant of her federal constitutional rights of
due process. (Beck v. Alabama (1‘984) 47 U.S. 625, 634 [the right to instructions on
lesser included offenses is an aspect of fundamental fairness].)

\4 ¢
CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, petitioner requests this Court grant review to settle these

important questions of law.

Respecttully submitted,

DATED: January 18, 2011 lo Sl Lo fis —
LAURA SCHAEFER )

Attorney for Petitioner
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CERTIFICATE OF WORD COUNT
I, Laura Schaefer, counsel for petitioner certify pursuant to the California Rules of
Court, that the word count for this document is 4,117 words. This document was prepared
in Word Perfect with 13 point Times New Roman font, and this is the word count generated
by the program for this document.
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the
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Roberto Canas-Fuente (Canas) killed Fernando Morales, the boyfriend of

R \appellant P,,_-__ﬁla Isabel Gonzalez (Perla), during a fight between Morales and Canas.

Morales along with Perla, his accomplice, ambushed Canas as he was plckmg up his
daughter at a street corner. Canas at the time did not know either Morales or Perla.

During'the ﬁght, Morales pulled out a knife with a three- to four-inch blade, thrust
it at Canas and cut hﬁn in the cheek.” After Canas threw Moralyes to the ground, Morales
got up and ran to Perla, who had been standing about 10 feet away, by her car, anxiously
Watching the ﬁght. From her car, Perla grabbed a rifle she .had brought to assault Canas,
cocked it, pointed it at Canas and then handled it to Mor.ales. Afraid for his life, Canas
ran at Morales. During‘ the étrﬁggle for the weapon, Canas Wa‘vs shot three times.

Although Woundéd, Canas gained control of the rifle and a few seconds later shot and

killed Morales, as Morales ran away.

Perla was tried and convicted on a provocative act murder theory of the attempted

murder of Canas and of the first degree murder of Morales. She appeals.



FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Because Perla challenges the sufﬁciency of the evidence, we describe in detail the

facts surrounding the killing.1 |

A. The People's Case

,Canaé and his wife Joan Curiel Were married but separated in May 2005. Curiel
was living with Ricardo Gonzalez (Ricardo), Perla's brother. Also liV‘ing with Curiel and
Ricardo. was the minor child of Curiel and Canas (d_aughter), Curiel's dthér childfen and
Curiel's mother Rosalba Osguera-Alvarez (Osguera).

Canas and Curiel shared cﬁstody of their daughter. However, beéause C_aﬁas and |
Ricardo did not get along, Canas typiéally picked up his daughtér at a pfearranged_
location near Curiel's residenée. Before the shooting, éénas and Ricardo had argued
several times on the télephone and had at least one physical éltercation outside of Curiel's
home. Each blamed the other as the cause of their feud.

On the evening bf Maj 21, 2005, Curiei called Canas, who worked as,an
emergency room technician, to arrange for tréatment for Osguera. Curiel dropped
Osguera off at the hospital -where Canas workéd. After Osguera returned home, Curiel
and Ricardo began arguing over whether Curiel had lied to him about "partying" with
Canas while Rioard.o was away. During their argument, Canas called and spoke to

Curiel. According to Ricardo, Canas bragged that he and C'u_rielbhad been intimate while

1 As discussed post, we are required to view the evidence in the light most favorable
to the judgment of conviction. (See People v. Osband (1996) 13 Cal.4th 622, 690.)

Certain portions of the factual and procedural history related to Perla's claims of error are
discussed post, in connection with those issues.
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Ricardo was in Mexico.2 Canas understood Curiel to say shé did not Want Ricérdg in the
home and Canas could hear children screaming in the background. Concemg:d for his
| daughter, Canaé immediately left work and drove to Curiel's residence.
When Canas arriyed,’Curiel was leaving the house with her children, including
their daughter. Ricardd was not far behind. As Curiel drove off with the children,
Ricardo got into his car and followed‘fher_; Canas in turn got back inside his car and

followed Ricardo. Canas testified he pulled along side Ricardo, rolled down his window

and yeﬂed, "What the fuck are you thinking? The kids are in the car.. Knock it off."3
After Canas cut off Ricardo, Ricardo took off in the opposite direction of Curiel. Canas
folloWed Ricardo to make sure Ricardo did not coﬁtinue following Curiel and the
children, then returned to Curiél's‘ horﬁe and called the police. Ricardo also caﬂed the
police. | |

Later that evening, after the police had left, Ricardo's mother Beatricé Gonzalez
(Beatrice), Perla, Morales and Ricardo's brother Jorge Gonzalez (I orge)y met outside
Curiel's home. Ricardo discussed what had happened with Canas earlier that evening.

Beatrice argued with Curiel and told Curiel that her son did not need such problems.

2 Curiel testified at trial that she and Ricardo did not ﬁght that evening about

whether she and Canas had been intimate while Ricardo was in Mexico, or about whether
Ricardo should move out of her house. ’

3 Ricardo disputes Canas's version of events, and testified Canas actually came after

him, banged on his car and told him, "I want to kick your ass." When Ricardo drove off, '
Canas got back into his car and according to Ricardo, Canas followed closely behind
Ricardo and attempted to run him bff the road as Ricardo drove behind Curiel.
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P_eﬂa told Curiel that if anything happened to Ricardo, they were going to "kick [Canas's]

]

ass.

As they stood outside quiel’s home, Jorge testified that Canas continued to call
the house and argue with Ricardo,. Finally, Jorge answered the telephone and agreed to
ﬁght Canas a short distance from Curiel's héuse. Jorge, his friend, Perla and Morales all
drove to a nearby street corner and waited about 20 minutes for Canas to arrive. Jorge
testified that Morales had a "B.B. gun" rifle in the car and that Morales shot it out the car
window while they waited for Canas. When Canas failed to show, the grdup went back
- to Curiel's house énd everyone left for the night.

~ The next momiﬁg, P.erla Went to Jorge's house. Perla told Jorge that Curiel had
told her that Canés was going to be picking up his daughter and Perla wanted Jorge to
come with her to intercep‘; and "beat up” Canas because he was harassing'Ricardd. |
Before J or‘ge left with :Perla? Jorge grabbed a baseball bat. J orge testified he intended to
break’Canas‘s car Windowé with the bat. ”

Perla and Jorge next went to pick up Morales. As ] drge walked around Perla's car, |
he saW a light brown r‘iﬂe in the back. They all drove to Curiel's house.‘ On the drive
over, J érge told Morales that J orge was going to ﬁghf with Canas and break Canas's car
Windowswith the bat. Morales agreed to help Jorge if Canas got the upper hand in the
fight. - |

Jorge knocked on the front door of Curiel's house and aéked to speak with his
brother Ricardo. While he was waiting at the door, he saw Canas's daﬁghtér and knew

Canas had not picked her up yet. Jorge left the house and walked back to the car, where
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Perla and Morales waited. They next drove to the intersection near Curiel's house where
fhey had waited for Canas the night béfore.

After wait'mg at the intersection for a tifne, they decided to leave. However,
Perla's car would nqt start. }J orge alone s#arted running back to Curiel‘é house to get help
while Perla and Morales waited at the car. AsJ Qrge ran, he passed Osguera, who was
walking Canas's yo.un-g daughter to the street corner to meet Canas. Another of Curiel's
children (minor) followed behind Osguera and Canas's daughter,

Minor, who was 15 years old at the time of trial and 13 years old at the time of the
killing, testified she pas‘sevd Jorge who was quickly Wa.tlking‘ in the opposite direction,
toward Curiel's home. Minor caught up with Osguera and Canas's daugh‘éer, and saw |
Morales, whom she knew, further down the road under the hood of the _car; Minor also
saw Perlak.. Minor testified sh¢ and Osguertavweré waiting for Canas to tell him to 1éave
with his daughter because Morales and Perla were there waiting for hirﬁ and fninor knew
that Can_as and Riéardo had argued the night before. Os guera testiﬁed Perla approached
her and told her to leave.

After aboﬁt 10 minutes,‘ Canas arrived at the intersecﬁon. Canas drove past Perla's
broken~dov§n caf and stoﬁped near where Osguera, his daughtef aﬁd Minor Wéited. Canas
opened his driver side door émd beckoned Osguera to approach. Osguera hastily
approached Canas and told him to take his daughter and leave. At the same time,
Morale:s—.who_CanaS did not then know-—approached Canas and said, "Hey, puto, I
heard you had a problem." Canas initially thought Morales was joking. Canas saw Perla,

who he also did not know at the time, standing near the trunk of her car, staring at him
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about 10 feet away. Canas told Osguera to get his daughter in the car and leave just as
Morales started throwing punches. Osguera drove off in Canas's car with his daughter.

- Canas started to throw punches back at Morales. Canas next saw Morales pull a
three- to four-inch knife ffom his waistband, raise it near his ear and point it at Canas.
Morales then luﬁged at Canas and cut Canas on the left side of his face. Morales came at
- Canas again with the kx_lifcyz.. Canas ducked, grabbed Morales's legs, lifted him. up and

slammed him to the ground on his back. Morales quickly got up and ran towards Perla.
Canas saw Perla move to the paésenger side of the car, reach inside and meet Morales
near the trunk with a "riﬁe type weapon' in her hand. Before Perla handed the rifle to
'Morales, Caﬁas saw her "cock it”‘by pulling back the hammer of the gun. Perla also -

pointed the rifle at Canas.4

- Scared for his life, Canas ran at Morales. During the struggle, the rifle discharged
multiple times and Canas suffered three gun shot wounds. Canas wrestled the rifle éway
from Morales, who got up and began to run away: Péﬂa also began to run. Afraid both

‘Morales and Perla intended to do him more harm, Canas pointed the rifle at Morales and

fired. Morales buckled and fell face down on the ground.

4 Osguera testified that she saw Perla pick up from her car 'What she thought was a

stick until she realized it was a firearm, point it at Canas and fire two or three shots in his
direction. We note the jury found the allegation not true that Perla intentionally
discharged a firearm during the commission of attempted murder, as provided in Penal
Code section 12022.53, subdivision (¢). However, it did find true the allegation that

Perla used a weapon as provided in section 12022.53, subdivision (b). Thus it is possible
the jury concluded Perla fired the weapon, but not intentionally.
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Canas testified he shot in the direction of Moraies about five to ten seconds after
he gained control of the rifle. Canas could not tell Whether the shots were -hitting‘Morales-
until he fell fo the sidewalk. Canas fired the rifle at least three times until it ran out of
ammunition.

Canas went to Morales to make sure he did not have any additional weapons on -
him. Canas next looked for Perla because he was afraid she stiﬂ intended to harm him.
Canas saw Curiel drive up in hér caf, start screaming and leave. Canas still did not know
his attackers or why they attacked him. Canas also saw minor standing by an unoccupied
car.

About a minute or two later, Canas saw Curiel drive up again. This time,
however,a browﬁ car driven by Ricardo was following closely behind Curiel. Can.a‘s‘s;aw ‘
Perla and an unidentified man, later determined to be Jorge, riding in Curiel's éar. Still
concerned he would be attacked, Canas spied Perla as she got out of the car and
approached Morales. Perla started screaming at Canas for help. Still ho_ld'mg the rifle,
which was out of ammunition, Canas responded, "You are kidding me; right? He just
tried to kill me. You want me to help you? ... You deal with it." Perla dragged Morales
to.Curiel‘s caﬁ, put him inside and they transported him to the hospital,

Morales died from multiple gunshot Wounvds. One bullet enfered his right chest
and lodged in the chest cavity; one bullet entere_d his right back side and exited his

stomach; and one bullet enteréd to the right of his back midline, severed his spinal cord

and lodged in his vertebrae.



When police ar;ived at the scene, they conﬁscateci a .22 semi-automatic rifle with |
~ amagazine capacity of 14. Police found several expended .22 long-rifle shells casings
and a pocket k'ﬁife, with the blade closed, in the street. Police also found a baseball bat in
Perla's car and a "bullet strike" in a newly constructed building near thé crime scene.
Inside Perla's car, police found aroll of red duct tape that matched the red ”X"‘ on the
back of her car's rear license plate, ostensibiy put there to obscure the plate number.

- B. Defense Case

Beatrice, the mothef of Ricardo, Jorge and‘Perla, testiﬁed Ricardo called her the
night before the killing in an agitated state and informed her that while driving Canas had
followed him in his car. Beatrice in tum called Jorge and Perla. That evening, they all
met outside Cﬁriel’s Home. Ricardo talked about another incidént involviﬁg Canas, where
Ricardo claimed Cahas had struck him and then thrown him into the bushes. Perla was
upset by Canas‘s alleged mistreatr_ﬁent of her brother and told Ricardo that if Canas éver
struck him again, "they" would beat up Canas.

Marlen Morales, the sister of Morales, testified she was a "little" angry witﬁ Pefla
over tﬁe death of her brother. About four to eight days after he was killed, Marlen and
her other brother went to the locétion of the shooting and discovered a "p@imy.’; knife.
She testified the knife had a black haﬁdle, was about 10 inches long, and was a "little
dirty." She kicked the knife into a "bush area;‘ because, she testified, shé did not want her
other brother to seé it and suffer more. Marlen had ﬁo explanation Why she neglected to

tell the detective investigating her brother's murder, during an interview about eight days

after his death, about this knife.



C. Rebuttal

Canas testified he had no weapons in his possession, including a knife, the day
Morales attacked him. Canas also testified he no weapons in his car, he did not see the
knife described by Marlen at the crime scene or in anyone else's possession, and the only

knife he saw on the day of the killing was the one Morales had that was shorter than the

one described by Marlen.
D. Charges and Conviction
Perla was charged with attempted premeditated and deliberate murder (Pen.

Code,d §§ 66v4, 197 [gount 1]) and rﬁurder (§ 187 [Qount 21). It was further alleged that
Perla personally uséd, and personally and intentionally discharged, a firearm in the
commission of the attempted murdef (8 12022.53, subds. (b), (c)).

A jury found Perla guilty of attempted premeditatéd and deliberate murder and
first degree murder. The jury aléo found the personal use allegation true. The tfial couft o
sentenced Perla to state prison for a term of 25 years to life on the murder conviction and

a concurrent life term, enhanced with the upper term of 10 years for use of the firearm, on

the atternpted murder conviction.

5 All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless specified otherwise.
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DISCUSSION
A. Substantial Evidence
Perla contends the evidence 1s insufficient to support her first degree murder
conviction under the provocaﬁve act murder doctrine because none of her acts was

sufficiently egregious to provide a deadly response from Canas.

1. Standard of Review

Our iﬁquiry follows established principles of revi‘ew.. “11; determining-wﬁethér the

evidence is sufficient to éupport a convicti;i’n Cees 'the relevant question is whether, after
viewing the evidence in the light most favqrablé to the prosecution; aﬁy rational trier of
faét could have found the essential. elements of the crimé beyond a reasonable doubt.'
[Citations.] Under this standard, 'an appell_até court in .é crivm'mal case . . . does not ask
itself whether it believes that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a
reasonable doubt." [Citation.]” (Peoplev. Vy (2004) 122 Cal.App.4th 1209, 1224,
~ quoting Jackson v. Virginia (1979) U.S. 307; 319 [99 S.Ct. -2’781].) "Rather, thé
reviewing cOuﬁ 'must review the whole‘ record in the light most faﬁ/orable to the judgment-
- bélow to determine whether it discloses substantial evidence—that is, evidence which is
reasonable, credible, and of solid value—such that a reasonablé trier of fact could find the
defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.! [Citation.]" (Ibid.)

2. Governing Law |

"The provocative act murder doctrine has traditionally been invoked in cases in

which the perpetrator of the underlying crime instigates a gun battle, either by firing first
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or by otherwise engaging in severe, 1ife—threatening, and usually gun-wielding c‘onduct,
and the police, or a victim of the underlying crime, responds with privileged lethal force
vby shooting back and killing the perpetrator's accomplice or an innocent bystander.
[Citations.]" (People v. Cervantes (2001) 26 Cal.4th 860, k867; see also People v. Concha
(2009) 47 Cal.4th 653, 663 (Concha I) [the provocative act murder doctrine is shorthand
" 'for that category of intervening-acf causation cases in which, during commission of a
crimé, the intermedi'afy (i..e., a police officer or crime Viétim) 18 provok__ed by the
defendant’s conduct inté [a response that results] in someone's death. [Citation.]")
Under this doctrine, " '[wlhen the defendant or his accomplice, 'with A Conscious '.

disregard for lifé, intentionally commits an éct thét is likely to cause death, and his victim
or a police officer kills in reasonable response to such act, tﬁe:defendant is guilty of
murder.‘ In such a case, the killing 1s attributable, not merely to the commission of a
felon, but to the intentional act of the defendant or his aécomphce committed with
conscious disregara for life.’ [Citation.]“ (People v. Cervanreﬁ, supra, 26 Ca1.4th at p.

868.)

”HoWever, the ‘defendant‘is liable only for those unlawful killings proximately
caused by the acts o‘f th(; defendant or his-accomplice. ([Pe@ple v.} Roberts {‘19?2] 2
Cal.4th {271,] 320.) 'In all homicide cases in which thé conduct of an intermediary is the
actual cause of death, the defendant's liability .will depend on whether it can be -
deménstrated that his own conduct proximately caused the victim's death . . . ." (People v.

Cervantes|, supra,] 26 Cal.4th {at p.] 872.) '[1]f the eventual victim's death is not the

natural and probable consequence of a defendant's act, then liability cannot attach.'
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([People v.} Roberts, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 321 ) Our p;ior decisions 'make clear that,
where the defendant perpetrates an inherently daﬁgerqus felony, the victim's self-
defensive killing is a natural and prQbable response. (See, e.g., People v. Gilbert (1965)
63 Cal.2d 690, 705; Peoplev. Caldwell (1984) 36 Cal.3d 210, 220-222.)" (Concha I,
supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 661.) |
A key issue regarding the application of the doctrine is Whether the defendant
committed a provocative act (e.g., the physical or "actus reus"” element} that proximatély
caused (e.g., thé mental or "mens rea" element) the kﬂlingl (C'onchd], supra, 47 Cal.4th
at p. 660; People v. Briscoe (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th. 568,.582 ["Cases often discuss these
two elements.[actus reus and mens rea] in terms of whether the defendant committed a
provocdtzlve éct Whiéh proximately caused the killing."]) |
To éonstitute a provocative act, the defendant "must comrﬁit an act that p.fovokes a
third pérty to fire "cl fatal shot." (People v. Briscoe, Szlxpra, 92 Cal.App.4th atp. 582.) "In
| cases in which the un.de'rlying kcrime.does not involve an intent to kill . . . the mere
-participation in the underlying criminal offense ié not sufficient to invoke the doctrine of |
provocativé act murder." (Id. atpp. 582-583.) In addition, the conduct must demonstratg
_malice, which .is propberly implied when "the defendémt comumits an act with a high
probability that it will result in death and.does so with a base antisocial motive or a -
wanton disregard for human life." (fd. at p. 583.) ”Un}ess the defendant‘s conduct i3
sufficiently p.rovocative of a lethal response, it cannot support fhe_ finding of implied |
malice n.eoessary for a verdict of. guﬂt on a murder charge. [Citaﬁons.] Thus, a central
inquiry in determinir_ig a défendant‘s criminal Iiability for a killing committed by a
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resisting victim is whether the defendant's conduct was éufﬁciently provocative.of lethal
resistance to support a finding of implied malice. [Citétions.]” (Id. atp. 583.)

"The prosecutor must also establish that the defendant's conduct proximately |
caused the killing. Courts use traditional notions of coﬁcurrent énd proximate cause in
order to determine whether the killiﬁg was the result of fhe defendant's conduct.
[Citations.] Td be considered the proximate causé of the V_iotim's death, the defendant's .

- act must have been a substantiai factor contributing to the resﬁlt, rather than insignificant
or merely theoretical. [Citations.] A defendant's provocative acts mﬁst %ictually prO‘}Oke
a victim response resulting in an accomplice's death. [Citation.]" (People v. Briscoe,
supra, 92 Cal. App.4th at pp. 583-584, fn. omitted.)

"The timing of events is critical. By necessity, the provocative act must oceur
before a victim may maké a lethal response. [Citation.] There may be more than one act |
cdnstitutingthe_proximate cause lof fhe killing. [Citati»éns.] 1f the defendant comnlits
sc»‘veral acts buﬁ only one of them actually provoked a lethal respo‘née, only that act may
cqnstituté the provocative act on Which cUlpability for provocative act murder can be
based. [Citations.] When the chain of c»ausatio‘n is somewhat attenuated, the jury decides
whether murder liabilify attaches or not. [Citations.]" ( People“v; Briscee, supra, 92
Cal.AppAth at p. 584; see also People v. Roberts, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 320, fn. 11
["[T]here is no bright line demarcating a legally sufficient proximaie cause from one that
is too remote,“ and thus "l ojrdinarily vthe question will be for the jury, though in some
instances undisputed evidence may reveal a cause so remote that a court may properly

decide that no rational trier of fact could find the needed nexus."})
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3. Analysis

‘Perla argues she did not engage in any acts in conscious disregard for life that
would pfovoke a lethal response from Canas, inasmuch as she neither initiated the assault
against Canas nor intended to kill him or anyone else.

| The evidence in the record, as found by fhe jury, shows otherwise. Perla had the
rifle in the .car befo?e she picked up Jorge; it was her idea to meet and assault Canas at the
location where Canas intended to pick lip his young daughter; Perla wanted to ‘assault
Canas because he allegedly was harassing her brother Ricardo; When Morales sta_rted
ﬁghting with Canas, Perla stayed near the car where the rifle was located; after Canas
appeared to get the upper hand on Morales, Morales pullea a knife on, and cut; Caﬁas; .
after Canas threw hirﬁ to the grou.n.d, Morales next ran b‘aek"_co the car where Perla was
" Wai‘cing; Perla grabbed her rifle from hef car, cocked it and pointed ie at Canas before she
handed it off to Morales, ostensiblyv for him to use against Canas; Canas, fearing for his
" life when he saw Perla hand the rifle to Moréles, ran at Morales and the two struggled
over the rifle; during their struggle, Cenas wes shot three times; and after Canas wrestled
the rifle away _fro_m MOraleS, within a few seconds Canas shot Morales.

We conclude this evidence, which is substential, amply sepports the jury's implied
finding that Perla's conduet, as opposed’ to that of her accomplice (see People v. Antick
(1975) 15 Cal.3d 79, 91-92, disapproved on other grounds as stated in People v. McCoy
(2001) 25 Cal4th 1111, 1}122), was sufficiently provocative of a 1ethal response from
Canas. (See People v. Briscoe, supra, 92 Cal.AppAth at p 583 [cenduct that initiates a

gun battle may constitute a provocative act].) "A defendant can be liable for the unlawful
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kﬂliﬁgs of both the intended victim and any unintended victims. ' "[TJhere is no
requirement of an unlawful intent to kill an intended victim. The law speaks in teﬁns of
an unlawful intent to kill a person, not the person intended to be killed"' [Citations.]"
(Concha I, supra, 47 Cal 4th at p. 660.) |
In addition, We note the jury als§ found Perla commifted attefnpted murder of
Canas and personally used a firearm in oonnection with the vat‘témpt. : Signiﬁcdntly, we |
note Perla is not challenging the jﬁry‘s explicit finding she "intended to kill" for purposes
of attempted murder. Attempted murder is a provocative act sufficient to support murder
1ia.bility. (See People v. Gallegos., (1997) .54 Cal.App.4th 453, 460-461.)
: Certainly, the jury was entitled to consider the inferénc‘eé Perla urges in this appeal

(e.g., her acts were insufficient to provoke a lethal response from Canas, and she did not
“intend to kill). (People v Roy (1971) 18 Cal.App.3d 537, 552,} disapproved on other
groﬁnds as stated in PeopZe v. Ray (1975) 14 Cal.3d 20, 32 ["Sufficiency of provocation
and whether a defendant in fact acfed under such provocation-éré questions of fact for the -
jury"], disapproved on other grounds as stated in People v. Lésko (2000) 23 Cal.4th 101,

110.) Just as certain, however, the jury also was entitled to rejeét those inferences. (See
People v. Hillhouse (2002) 27 Cal.4th 469, 496, see also People v. Carter (2003) 36

Cal.4th 1215, 1257-1258.)

For the same reasons, we conclude there is sufficient evidence to support the jury's
(implied) finding that Perla's provocative acts proximately caused the killing of Morales.
That is, there is abundant evidence in the record to support the finding that Morales's

death was the "natural and probable consequence” of Perla's acts of cocking the rifle she
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brought to assault Canas. (See Concha I, supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 661.) A reasonable jury
could infer from such evidence that Perla's acts proximately caused the killing.

B. Instructional Error—CALCRIM Nos. 560 and 561

Perla next complains the trial court erred when it instructed the jury on

provocative act murder using CALCRIM No. 560,6 rather than CALCRIM No. 561 7

CALCRIM No. 560 provides: "[The defendantds charged [in Count | with
<insert underlying crime>.] The defendant is [also] charged [in Count . ]

with murder. A person can be guilty of murder under the provocative act doctrine even if
- someone else did the aotual killing.

"To prove that the defendant is guilty of murder under the provocatwe act dootrme the
People must prove that:

"1. In (committing/ [or] attempting to oommlt)
the defendant intentionally did a provocative act;
"2. The defendant knew that the natural and probable consequences of the

provocative act were dangerous to human life and then acted with conscious d1sregard for
life;

<insert underlying crz'me>,

"3. In response to the defendant's provocative act, <insert name or

description ofrhirdparty> killed  <insert name of decedent>;
"AND

"4. 's <insert name of decedent> death was the natural and probable
consequenoe of the defendant‘s provocative act.

"A provocative act is an act:

"1. [That goes bevond what is necessary to accomplish the
underlying crime>;)
"TAND

"2.] Whose natural and probable consequenoes are dangerous to human life,
because there is a high probability that the act will provoke a deadly response.

<insert

"In order to prove that 's <zn5ert name of decedent> death was the natural and
‘probable consequence of the defendant's provocative act, the People must prove that:

"1. A reasonable person in the defendant's position would have foreseen that there

was a high probability that h1s or her act could begin a ¢hain of events resulting in
someone's death;

17



"2. The defendant's act was 2 direct and substantial factor in causing _ 's
<insert name of decedent> death;

"AND

"3, 's <insert name of decedent> death would not have happened if the
defendant had not commltted the provocative act.

"A substantial factor is more than a trijvial or remote factor. However, it does not need to
be the only factor that caused the death.

"<Multiple Provocative Acts>

"[The People alleged that the defendant committed the following provocative acts:

<insert acts alleged>. You may not find the defendant guilty unless you all agree
that the People have proved that the defendant committed at least one of these acts.
However, you do not all need to agree on which act.]

"<Independent Criminal Act>

["A defendant is not guilty of murder if the kiﬂing of _ <insert name of decedent>
was caused solely by the independent criminal act of someone else. An independent

criminal act is a free, deliberate, and informed criminal act by a person who is not acting
-with the defendant.}

"<Degree 0fMurder>

"[If you decide that the defendant is guilty of murder, you must decide whether the
murder 1 is first or second degree.

"To prove that the defendant is guilty of first degree murder, the People must prove that:
' "1. Asaresult of the defendant's provocative act, <insert name of
‘ decedent> was killed during the commission of _____ <insert Pen. Code, § 189 felonv>;
"AND

"2. Defendant intended to commit <insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony>_- when
(he/she) did the provocative act. : ' ‘

"In deciding whether the defendant intended to commit <insert Pen. Code, ¢ 189
felony> and whether the death occurred during the commission of <insert Pen. Code, §

189 felony>, you should refer to the instructions I have given you on

: __<insert Pen.
Code, s 189 felony>.

"Any murder that does not meet these requirements for ﬁrst degree murder is second
degree murder.]
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"[If you decide that the defendant committed murder that crime is murder in the second
degree 1"

7 CALCRIM No. 561 provides: "[The defendant is charged [in Count | with
' __ <insert underlying crime>.] The defendant is [also] charged [in Count |

with murder. A person can be guilty of murder under the provocatlve act doctrine even if
someone else did the actual killing.

"To prove that the defendant is guilty of murder under the provocative act doctrine, the
People must prove that:
"1. The defendant was an accomplice of <insert name/[s] or description[s]
of alleged provocateur[ 5]> in (committing/ [or] attempting to commlt) <insert '
underlying crime>; o
"2 In (commlmng/ [or] attempting to commit) <insert underlying crime>,
<insert name/[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> intentionally did a
provocatlve act; : : _
"3. <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> knew that
the natural and probable consequences of the provocative act were dangerous to human.
~ life and then acted with conscious disregard for life;

"4, In response to 's <insert name[s] or description(s] ofalleged _
provocateur[s]> provocative act, <insert name or description of third party>
killed  <insert name of decea’enr>

TAND

"S. 's <insert name of decedent> death was the natural and probable
consequence of

's <insertname[s] or descrzption[s]' of alleged provocateur[s]>
provocative act.

"A provocative act 1s an act: :

"1 {That goes bevond what is necessary to accomplish the
underlying crime>;] ‘ '

"[AND

"2.] Whose natural and probable consequences are dangerous to human life,
because there 1s a high probability that the act will provoke a deadly response.

<insert

"The defendant is an accomplice of <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged
provocateur[s]> if the defendant is subject toprosecution for the identical offense that
you conclude <insert name[s] or descriptionfs] of alleged provocateur[s]>
(committed/ [or] attempted to commit). The defendant is subject to prosecution if
(he/she) (committed/ [or] attempted to commit) the crime or if:
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"1. (He/She) knew of 's <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged
provocateur[s]> criminal purpose to commit <insert underlying crime>;

"AND

"2. The defendant intended to, and did in fact, (a1d facilitate, promote encourage,.
or instigate the commission of _<insert underlying crime>/ [or] partlclpate Ina
criminal conspiracy to commit <msert underlying crime>).

[An accomplice does not need to be present when the crime is committed. On the other
hand, a person is not an accomplice just because he or she is at the scene of a crime, even

if he or she knows that a crime [will be committed or] is being committed and does
nothing to stop it.}

"In order to prove that 's <insert name of decedent> death was the natural and
probable consequence of 's <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged
provocateur[s]> provocative act, the People must prove that:

"1. A reasonable person-in 's <insert name/[s] or description[s] ofalleged
provocateur(s]> position would have foreseen that there was a high probability that
(his/her/their) act could begin a chain of events resulting in someone's death;

"2. 's <insert name[s] or descrzptzon[s] of alleged provocateurs]> act
was a direct and substantial factor n causmg 's <insert name of decedent> death;

"AND : ’

"3. 's <insert name or de'scripz‘ion of decedent> death would not have
happened if

___<insert name[s] or description[s] 0fallegedprovocateur[s]> had not
_ committed the pro provocatwe act.

"A substantial factor is more than a trivial or remote factor. However, it does not need to
be the only factor that caused the death. '

“<Multiple Provocative Acts>

"[The People alleged the following provocative acts: <insert acts dllegea’>. You
may not find the defendant guilty unless you all agree that the People have proved that:

"1. <insert name(s] or descrzptzon[s] of alleged provocateur([s]>
committed at least one provocative act;

"AND

"2. Atleast one of the provocative acts committed by - <insert name[s] or

description[s] of alleged provocateur|: 5]> was a direct and substantial factor that caused
the killing,

"However, you do not all need to agree on which provocative act has been proved.]

"<Accomplice Deceased>
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"[If you decide that the only provocative act that caused
deceased accomplice> death was committed by
accomplice>, then the defendant is not guilty of
accomplice> murder.]

's <insert name of
<insert name of deceased
's <insert name of deceased

"<Independent Criminal Act>

"TA defendani,is‘not guilty of murder if the killing of <insert name or description
~ of decedent> was caused solely by the independent criminal act of someone other than
the defendant or <insert name/s] or description[s] of all alleged accomplice[s]>.

"An independent criminal act is a free, deliberate, and informed criminal act by a-person
who is not acting with the defendant.}

"<Degree of Murder>

"{If you decide that the defendant is guilty of murder, you must de01de whether the
murder is first or second degree.

"To prove that the defendant is guilty of first degree murder, the People must prove that:
", Asaresult of 's <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged
provocateur[s]> provocative act,  <insert name of decedent> was killed while

<insert name[s] or de_script;c;i[ s] of alleged provocateur[s]> (was/were)
committing <insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony>;,
HAN'D ' ’

"2. <insert name[s] or description[s] of alleged provocateur[s]> -
specifically intended to commit  <insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony> when
(he/she/they) did the provocative act.

"In deciding whether <insert name/[s] or description]s] of alleged provocateur[s]>
intended to commit <insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony> and whether the death
occurred during the commission of  <insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony>, you should
refer to the instructions I have given you on <insert Pen. Code, § 189 felony>.

"Any murder that does not meet these requxrements for first degree murder is second
degree murder. |

[If you decide that the defendant committed murder, that crime is murder in the second
degree.]" '
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1. Forfeiture

Generally, " '[a] party may not complain on appeal ytha’c» an instruction correct in
Jlaw and responsive to the évidence was too general or incémplete unless the party has
requested appropriate clarifying or amplifying language.' " (People v. Hart (1999) 20
Cal.4th 546, 622; People v. Fiu (2008) 165 Cal. App.4th 360, 370.) .

Here, the record shows trial counsel had myriad discussions regarding the jury-
instructign_s, including CALCRIM No. 560 Which defense éounsel referred to on several
occasions as the governing instruction f(;r provo.cative act murder. Moreover, befbre the
court instructed the jury, it asked trial counsel if there were any further objections to the
instructions or requests for ad_ditional instructions. Bofh the prosecutor and defense
counsel respondéd né. |

Although‘Perla's claim of in‘structional" eITor was forfeite_d> we address the mérits
- of that claim in light of her alternative argﬁment that defensé counsel rendered ineffective
assistance by failing to request CALCRIM NQ. 561 in lieu of No. 560. (See People v.
Williams (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 649, 657 [addressing the merits of a claim, despite its

forfeiture, because defendant asserted ineffective assistance of counsel].)

2. No Instructional Error

Perla cdntends the tr_ial court erred by instructing the jury on provocaﬁve act
murder under CALCRIM No. 560, rather than CALCRIM No. 561, which she‘ claifns is
the recommended instruction when the provocative acfs are committéd by an accomplice.
Perla’ contends there is a "Critic_al distinction" Bet\%zeen the two instructions Eased on the

language of No. 561; which instructs the jury to find the defendant not guilty if it decides
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the provocative acts that caused the accomplice's death were committed only by the

accomplice, and not the def@ndant.g Thus, she contends the alleged 'mstfuctionaﬂ error
permitted the jury to convict her of murder based solely on the provo_cative acts of
‘Morales, contrary to the law of provocative act fnurder. _

"In réviéwing a claim of error in jury instructions in a criminal case, this court
must first consider the jury instructions as a whole to determine whether error has been
committed. [Citations.] We may notjudge ‘a single jury instruction in artiﬁéial isolation,
but must view it in the context §f the charge and the entire trial record." (People v.

- Moore (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 1323, 1330-1331; see also People v. Guiton (1993) 4
Cal.4th 11 16, ‘1_130 [in examining the question of prcjudica from instructional error, an
app.ellate court should look té thé entire rec;ord, including the evidence and arguments of
counsel].) |

"An appellate court cannot sét aside a judgment oﬁ the basis of instru_ctior‘lallvlv error

ﬁnless, after aﬁ éxamination of the enﬁre record, the court concludes that the error has
resultéd in a miscarriage of justice.’ [Citaticﬁ.] A miscarria_ge of justice occurs only
when it 1s reasonabiy probable that the jury would have reached_a result more favorablé ’

to the appellant absent the error. [Citations]" (People v. Moore, supra, 44 Cai.App.4th at

8- The portion of CALCRIM NO. 561 relevant to this analysis provides:
“<Accomplice Deceased> : '

"[If you decide that the only provocative act that caused 's <insert name of
deceased accomplice> death was committed by - <insert name of deceased
accomplice>, then the defendant is not guilty of 's

<insert name of deceased
accomplice> murder. "
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p. 1331; see also People v. Kelly (1-992) 1 Cal..4th 495, 525 [when a defendant claims that
a jury 'mstrﬁction misstated the law, a reviewing court considers the charge in its entirety
to determine wh,ethér there is a reasonable li-ke‘liﬁood that the jury misunde_rstood the
applicable law].) We independently review the legal adequacy of a jury instruction.
(People v. Cole (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1158, 1210.)

Here, we note CALCRIM No. 560 instmcted the jury that Perla could not be guilty
of provocative act murder unless the prosecution proved, among othcr'elem»eﬁts; that
“defendant [e.g., Perla] intentionally did a provocative act"; that ”d_efendam‘-knew that the
- natural and probable conseqﬁences of the provocative‘ act were dangerdus to human life
and then acted with conscious d_iére,gard.for life"; that “in response to the defendant's
pr_ovocativé act,” Canas killed Morales; and that Morales's d¢éth ”Was the natural and
probablé consequehce of tﬁe defendqnt’s provocative act." (Italics added.)

‘ Reviewing the instructions as a'.whole (see People v. Moore, SI;L;UI"CZ, 44
Cal.App.4th at pp. 1330-1_’33 i), we independently conclude the jury was properly
mnstructed that Perla could not be guilty of provocative acf murder unless the prosecution
proved if was her ads, as opposed to those »of Morales, that prdximately caused his death.
In other words, the instruction did not permit the jury to find Perla guilty of provocative
act rﬁurder based solely on the provocative acts of Morales, as she contends. -

Our conclusion is further supported by counsel's argument to thé jury. (See
People v; Guiton, supra, 4 Cal.4tﬁ atp. 1130.) Theprosecutor argued that Perla was
guilty of murdcr because hef act of pulling 6ut the rifle and handing it to MQrales was

dangerous and causeéd his death because Morales and Perla had "ambushed” Canas and
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because Perla "introduced arifle into the equation" in what had become a life and death
struggle between the two men.

Defense counsel likewise argued to the jury that it was to focus on Perla’s
c-onduct—orllack thereof—in finding her not guilty of Morales's murder. Indeed, the
defense argued tﬁat it Was‘the;, independent acts of Moralés and/or Canés (e.g., an
indepenaent intervening cause) that led to Mo‘rales‘é death, and that Perla's act of taking
out the rifle and handing it‘ to Morales was iﬁsufﬁcient to convipt her of mﬁrder under the
provocative act‘m,urder doctrine.

Based on the instructionallanguage given the jury and counsels' closing a'rgumenf,
we concludel that even if the trial court erred When itr gave CALCRIM No.. 566 and not
CALCRIM No. 561, it is not reasonably probéble that th_e jury misunderstood the
applicablé law and would hay_e reached a result more favorable to Perla absent th.e‘ erTor.
(SQ@-P@OpZé v. Kelly, supra, 1 Cal.4th at p. 525; People v. Méoré, suéra, 44 Cal-.App.4tﬁ
atp. 1331) | |

C. Instructional Error—Premeditation and Deliberatién9

- In its instruction on:provocativ.e act murder under CALCRIM No. 560, the trial
court told the jury: "It ybu decide that the defendant is puilty Gf-murder, you must decide
whether the ‘r.nurd‘er is first or second degree. [Y] To prove that the defendant is guilty of
first degree murder, the People must prove that: [f] One, as a result of tﬁe defendant's

provocative act, Fernando Morales was killed during the commission of attempted

9 ‘We note the People have not raised forfeiture as an issue in connection with this
claim of error. (See People v. Hart, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 622.)

25



willful, deliberate, and premeditated murder; and [§] Two, defendant intended fo commit -
attempted willful, deliberate, and premeditated murder when she did the pro{/ocative act.
9] In deciding whether the defendant intended to commit attempted willful, deliberate,
and premeditated murder and whether »z‘he death occurred during the commission of
attempted, willful, delibérate murder, you should refer to z‘he instrucﬁons l hdve given
you o‘lévan‘empz‘ed willful, deliberate, and premeditated murder." (ltalics added.)

Pursuant to CALCRIM No. 601, the trial court also instructed fhe jury on the
requirements for de_tefmining Whether the attempte.d murder was premeditated and
deliberate: "If you vﬁnd the defendant guilty of attempted murder under Count 1, y‘ou.
must then decide whether the People ha\}c provéd the additional allegation that the
attempted murder was done willfully and with deliberation aﬁd.premeditation. 11 The
defendant Perla Gonzalez acted wﬂlfully if she intended to kill when she acted. The
defendant Perla Gonzalez dehberated if she carefuﬂy wexghed the con31derat1ons for and
against her_ chow‘e and,'knowmg the consequences, decided to kill. The defendant Perla
Gonzalez premeditated if she décideci to kill Before acting. [9] The attempted murder Wwas
done willfully and With deliberation and premeditation if either the defendant or

Fernando Morales or both of them acted with that state of mind."  (Italics added.
erne ) % (

Perla contends the trial court committed prejudlclal error by instructing the jury on
the above italicized portlon of CALCRIM No. 601 because it permitted the jury to find
her guilty of first degree murder without determining Whether she personally acted

deliberately and with premeditation.
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Our Suprefne Court recently addressed this exact issue involving a nearly identical
_ jury instruction in Concha 1, supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 666. There, the court resolved once
and for all that a defendant could be guilty of murder in the first degree under a
provocative act murder theory if the defendant personally acted with deliberation and -
premeditation during the attemptéd murder. (Icé. at p. 65 8.) In-Concha I the trial court
referred the jury t(').the 'instru_ctioﬁ on attempt,iwhic’h a}épropriately allowé a defendant to
be held»vicariously‘liable for the mens rea of an accomplice. (Sée id. atp. 665 ["[Flor
murder, a defendant cannot be héld Vicarioﬁs'ly}hable for the mens rea of an accomphcéu
but the. ”s\arr.le 1s'not true for an attempfed- murder that is willful, deliberate, and
vpremeditated” in which case a "defendant may be vicariously liable for the premeditated
and deliﬁerate componént of the means rea of an accompliceﬁ"])
vHowever, our Supreme Couft in Concha I concluded the trial court erred when

instrﬁéting the jury on first degree ;r;urder, as opposed to attempted mufder,“‘by not
providiﬁg an inStruétion that _explained that for a defendant to be found guilty 'Qf ﬁr;t
degree murder, [the défendant] pér;onally has to have acted willfully, delibérateiy, and

with premeditation when [the defendant] committed the attempted murder.” (Concha I,

supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 666:) The court thus remanded the matter to the court to

determine whether the instructional error prejudiced defendants with respect to their first

degree murder conviction.
On remand, the court in People v. C_onéha (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1072, 1075
(Concha ]I); review denied June 9, 2010, held the instructional error harmless beyond a

reasonable doubt because a rational jury would have found based on the evidence that
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each defendant deliberated and premeditated thé attempted murder of the victim, who in
defending himself killed one of the éccomplices.

We note ;che court in Concha II considered at length the proper test to be used on
appeal where the jury has not been instructed on an element of the offense. Before

“selecting the harmless error standard, thevcourt thoroughly reviewed California and
United States Supreme Court decisions involving instructional .errors of -omiséion and
mis'description of offensés. (Concha 11, supra, 18.2 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1085-1087.) In
particular, the Concfza 1 court examined the reasonihg of the majority in Neder v. Uniied
States'('1999) 527U.8. 1,15 [1 19 S.Ct. 1827], where the United States Supremé'Court
noted the harmless error test strikes the appropriafe balance between protecting the
defendant, oﬁ the one hand, and maintaining publié réspect and Conﬁdence in the court
sYstem, on‘ the other hand.

Citing Justice Baxter's concurring opinioﬁ in People v. Cross (2OO &) 45 Cal 4th
58,71, the court in Concha I7 further elaborated that the harmless error test does not
depend on proof that thé jury _aqtually rested its verdict on thé proper ground, but on
proof beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have fdund guilt even ‘absent‘
the error. (Concha I, supra, 182 Cal.AinAth at p. 1087.) The test may require a
detailed examination of the«r‘ecord and the evidence produged by the defendant. (I bid.}
When, for example, the defendant does not contest the omitted element and fails to raise

sufficient evidence to support a contrary finding, the error should be deemed harmless.

(Ibid.)
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Like the court in Concha II, we recognize a minority view exists that concludes
that where there is an omission or misdirection to the jury as to an element of the offense,
using thé harmless error test impfoperly allows the reviewing court to reweigh the
evidence. However, that view 1s still aminority view. (See Concha H, supra, 182

' CaI.App.4th at p. 1086, fn. 9.) We are bound to follow the clear direction of the |
California Supreme Court and the United.States Supreme Court.

Finally, we note that while the jury in the case before us asked a question during
déliberations about Perla's mental state, we conclude that fact alone does not alter
application of the harmless error standardb. We agree the question was an important one

“on the issue of whether further instruction was needed. The court's 4answer to the jury |
question constitutes the instructional. error. If we were to take a further step and conclude
the jury question alone requires reversal of this issue, we wduld be applying a per se
‘reversible efrof standard, which is contrary to sﬁbsta’ntial controlling authority. We are
unwilling to take that step. "

Briefly, in Concha Il the victim drove up to his busines‘s late at night; and parked
his car in an alley. Befdre.he got out of his car, the ‘Victim was met by.tWo men who

threatened him and attempted to rob him. Two other men stood watch nearb‘;; Th

[¢)

victim briefly fought with his four attackers in thé alley and then began running down a
street. The four men followed the victim er a quarter of a mile. Asthe Victim ran, he
called out for help and tried fo use his mobile phone. His attackers caught up with him as
he tried to scale a fence, and -began to stab the victim in the back. The victim

remembered he had a small pocket knife, he pulled it out, faced his four attackers and
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began to stab themb out of fear for his own life. The victim again ran from his attackers to
the front door of a nearby house, where he cried out for help and banged on the door.
E%/entually the occupants of the house opened the door, saw the victim bleeding profusely
from multiple cuts and éaﬂed the police. (Concha II, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1076-
1077.) |
According to the defendants, because the parties and the jury were unaware of the

personal willful, deliberate, and premeditation requirement as to‘ the ﬁrét degree murder
count, the jury c§uld not have made, and did not make, the. requisite finding to support
that conviction, nor could the court do so on remand. The céurt rejected this afguﬁent?
and reasoned: "Defendants, however, misperceive the harmless error standard appli.cable
to a case such as this one, in which the instructional error did not fequire the jury to make |
a finding on an essential elerﬁent of the offense—a willful, deliberéte and premeditated
killiqg. As discuésed above, based on the authorities, we do not have to determine if ’;he.
verdicts reflect that the jury actually determined that both defendants deliberated and

premeditate.d' the attempted murder, Rather, we may review the entire ré‘cord to
determine whether vitis clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rationaljury would have
| made the necessaryﬁndings of premeditation and deliberation absent the error.”
(Concha I, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 1089, itaﬁcs added.)

The court then reviewe;d the evidence in the record and concluded from it that a
"rational jury would have found that each defendant deliberated and premeditated the
attempfed murder of [the victim]." (Concha II. ,. supra, 182 Cal. App.4th at p. 1089.)

Specifically, the court found that two defendants confronted the victim in the alley,
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demanded mon.ey and twice threatened to kill him. After the victim resisted his four
attackers, they fought with him in the alley; and then chased him for a quarter of a mile
with beer bottles, which they used to beat and stab the victim. The court noted the assault
agéinst the Vic.tim was sufficiently severe that the victim received multiple stab Wounds‘
to his head and body, requiring 60 stitches to close. (/bid.)

The court in Concha II also noted that the jury returned guilty verdicts on the
aﬁempted murder counts, which required the jury to find vthat cach defendant intended to
kill the Vicﬁm, or shared in ;the other's intent to kill, aﬁd that the jury found-true each
defendant'personally committed a_provocative'act during the éttempted murder of the

| victim and one of the defendaﬁts personally used a deadly weapon—a beer bottle—
~during the attempted murder. (Concha II, supra, 182 Cal. App.4th at p. 1090.)

In féspbnse to the érgument of defendants that the evidkenc'e at trial was
controverted regarding thejr lack of premeditation and deliberation, the court found the
evidence submitted by defendants "dealt with théir participation in the murder and their
intént to kill, and the jury foundﬁ agaiﬁst them on those innfs. [Defendaﬁts] did not
contest thé facts that} go specifically to premeditation and deliberation_fhe confrontation
in the alley, the chase, the cornering of [thé victim] and the repéated stab wounds with a
deadly Weépon. Prémeditation and deliberation was submitted to the jury on thve
, aﬁémpted murder counts; thus defendants ha:d the opporﬁmity to address those elements. |
The facts supporting premeditation and dehberaﬁon ar‘e uncontradicted oncé the intent.
element was established. Although the jury verdict is deficient in :that there was 1ot

finding of premeditation and deliberation as to each defendant, the jury did nevertheless
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render a verdict of first degree murder against both defendants. Based on the evidence,

the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error.”. (Concha II, supra, 182

Cal.App.4th at p. 1090.)

We conclude Concha I and Concha Il are instructive here.lo. Like the trial court
in Concha I, the trial court here instructed the jury on prefneditaﬁon an_d deliberation for
first degree murder by referring the jury to the instruction on first degree atfrempted
murder, which as Concha I teaches, was error because unlike aﬁempted-murder, for
murder a "defendant'cannbt be held'vicariously liable for the mens rea of an :
acc;omplice.”11 .(Concha‘[,‘ supra, 47 Cal.4_th at p 665.) Nonefheless, like the court in
Concha I, we conclude the tfial court's instructional "error" was harmless beyond a

“reasonable doubt because the evidence before us shows a rational jury would have‘found
Perla personally deliberated and. premeditated fhé attemptéd murder of Canasg
In(ieed, the evidénce of Perla's premeditation and deliberation in the attemp@d

murder of Canas is equally as strong, 1f not stronger, than the evidence of attempt against

10 That there wére two defendants in Concha I and II, whereas there 1s only one

defendant here—Perla, makes absolutely no difference in our analysis because just like

* Morales in the case at bar, one of the accomplices in Concha I and I7 also died (e.g., a
murder occurred). If the court in Concha IT had ruled the jury could have found the dead

accomplice alone premeditated and deliberated the attempt and ignored the conduct of the

other three accomplices, the court there could not have reached the conclusion it did—

that the jury instruction, while deficient, resulted in harmless error. |

11 We note that defense counsel participated in a myriad of discussions regarding
jury instructions and never requested additional instruction on Perla's personal intent to
‘murder the victim. Nor did defense counsel argue the jury was required to make specific
findings as to her intent to murder the victim. We understand of course that the state of
the law during this trial would have led counsel to accept the trial court's version of the
law, as instructed, inasmuch as Concha I was decided after the trial was concluded.
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the defendants in Concha I and II. In addition, we note such ev-idence against Perla was
uncontroverted, in contrast to the evidenc¢ Qf her intent to kill, which the jury found in
convictihg her of ﬁrst degree attempted ‘murderv. Perla has not challenged that finding on
appeal.

The record contains uncontroverted evidence showi~ng Perla personally
premeditated and deliberated the attempted murder of Canas: Perla had been outside
Curiel's ho‘usé‘the night before Morales was killed because of a dispu;ce between Canas
~ and her brother Ricardo; Per.la‘ planned the assault on Canas the following day; Perla
calied Curiel on the momingvof the killing and learned that Canas intended fo ‘pick up his
daughter at a predetermined location; Perla first drove_Morales and Jorge to Curiel's
house to make sure Canas's daughter was still athome and had not been picked up by
- Canas; Perla and her accomplices discussed how the assault against Canas wouid take
'place; Perla drove to the intersection where Canas Was to pick up his daughter,'parked
the car and waited for Canas; Perla brought a loaded riﬂe to .the assault, Perla stood

about 10 feet aWay from where Canas and hér boyfriend fought, by her car where her
loaded rifle was 1ocate.d; Perla did not attegipt to break up the fight between the two men,;
Perla grabbed her loaded rifle from the car after Canas successfully fought off Morales's
knife attack; Perla grabbed her r&ﬂe on her own accord; Perla cocked her rifle with her
left hand and pointed it at Canas; and Perla next handed the riﬂe-, which was ready to
fire, to Morales, as Morales ran toward her after the assault'had turned deadly.

Qﬁr dissenting colleague largely ignores most of thi’s- evidence in arguing that the

"extent of Perla's participation in the attempted murder of Canas appears to have been
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limited to her handing the firearm to Morales." (Conc. & dis. opn, p. 3, italics added.)
We note, however, the issue 18 nof merely Perla's participation in the attempted murder
of Canas, but rather whether .she personallf premeditated and deliberated in connection

: with that attempt. - In any évent, Perla clearly did more than merely hand the rifle to
Morales, as it was Perla's idea, among other things, tb assault Canas 1n the first plac_e; it
was Perlq s r'.iﬂe; it was Perla's decision to bring tﬁe loaded rifle to the assault; and it was
Perla's decision to pull out the rifle from her éar, when the assault had turned deadly, :
cock it and hand it to Morales to use against Canas. |

Unlike our dissenting colleague,'\&e conclude such evidence amply proves the
reﬂgction in advance and weighing of considerations sufficient to establish beyond a
reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found Perla, as opposed to her -
accomplice, personally premeditated and déliberated the attempted murder of Canas.
(See Concha Il, supra, 182 Cal. App.4th at pp. 1075, 10‘90')

Lastly, we also disagreé with our dissenting colleag@e that the trial court "directed
the jury to an instruction that grossly misstated the law regarding é k_éy distinction

between first and seCo_nd degree murder." (Conc. & dis. opn., p. 4, italics added.) Aswe

thex
s they

éilready have noted the trial court here relied on CALCRIM Nos. 560 and 601 a
then existed, before Concha I was decided by our Supreme Court. Althdugh Concha I
conc.luded/these instru;tions were improper aé we discussed ante, we do not agree it was
a gross missfafement of the law, no.r do we agree that this error took on additional

~ significance because the trial court repeated what was then a proper instruction a second
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time during deliberations in response to a jury question. For these reasons, we conclude

the instructional error by the trial court was harmless.

D. instructional Error-—Lawﬁtl Killing for Provocative Act Murder12 |

Perla next contends the jury vshould have been told the provocative act theory of
murder could‘not properly épply if Canas used lethal force solely to prevent an escape,
rather than in response to a provocative act. Because this principle exonerates, the
argument runs, it therefore constitutes a defense, and either the trial court had a sua
'spbnte duty to give an appropriate instruction delineating it for the jury, or defense
Icounsel rendered Perla ineffective assistance for failing to request such an instruction. -

The trial court's instruction to the jﬁry‘ included the followiﬁg paragraph from
" CALCRIM No.‘ 560: "A defendant is not guilty of the murder of Fernando Morale‘s—_or I
am sorry—if the killing of Fernando Morales W'as caused solely by the independent _
Cri.minal act of someone else. An independent cﬂminal act is a free, deliberate, and
informed criminal act by a person who is not acting with the defendant."

‘D_urir}g closing argument, counsel reinforced the need for the jury to evaluate
”self—defense"' in assessing whether Canas's killing of Morales st criminal and, thus, an
independent act undermining the provocative act murder doctrine. The prosecutor argued
‘ that Canas» had the right to defend himself in light of the deadly attack by Morales.
Defenée counsel, however, contendcd that Canas had no right to shoot Morales in

the back as he was running away and even contended that one shot was fired while

12 See footnote 9,.post,
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Morales was lying on the grouhd. Defense counsel also contended that Canas's shooting
of Morales Wés not self-defense and, because it was not, "[t]hat's an independent act." As’
Such; defense counsel contended, "[t]hat [independent act] is something that gets in
between, and yéu camiot then justify puttiﬁg Fernando Morales's[s] . . . death on [Perla]."
In reply, the prosecﬁor argued thét for Canas to be acting in self-defense, there
was no requirement that he only fire one éhot or shoot at a particulér area of the body..
The prosecutor also told the jury that Canas had the right to defend himself and that
Canas was not én interVGI}ing criminal act because he committed no crimé by defending
himself'.' | | |
',We’have foundﬁ no case to support Perla's argument that thefrial coﬁrt erred when
it failed 1;0' give sua sponte an instruction on self~defense as it pertainé to the victim Ca;ias :
- and whether he was legally justiﬁéd in shooting Moraies as Morales ran away.13 This is
because the issué of whether the killing was léwfuﬂy justified is rooted in principles of
| proximate cause, and not self-defense. (See Concha I, supra, 47 Cal.4th at pp. 660—661;
People v. Cervantes, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 866.) | Inde’éd, our Supreme Coul;t n
Concha I fecently confirmed that.principles of proximate causé govern in determining
: Whethe‘r a killing is attfibutable to the (pro,vocaﬁve) act of defendant: "{T}he defendant is
liable only for those unlawful killings proximately caused by the acts of thé defendant or

his accomplice. [Citation.] 'In aH homicide cases in which the conduct of an

13 Perla cites People v. Keys (1944) 62 Cal.App.2d 903, 916, as her only support the

trial court erred when it failed to give the self-defense instruction. However, People v.

Keys has absolutely nothing to do with provocative act murder, and thus is inapposite
here. '
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intermediary is the actual cause of death, the defendant's liability will depend on whether
it can be demonstrated that his own conduct proximately caused the victim's death . . .
[Citation.] '[I}f the eventual victim's death is not the natural and probable consequence of
a defendant'é act, then liability cannot attach.' [éitation.] " (People v. Concha, supra, 47
Cal.4th at p. 661.)

Thus, the trial oourt‘ here did not err when it failed sua sponte to instruct on self-
defense as it pertéined to Canas and whether he was legally justified in shooting Morales
~ just seconds after Canas, who himséif was shot Fthfee ’times., wrestled the rifle away from
Moralés. Defense cbunsel also did not render ineffective assistance by neglecting to ask
for such an instruction, and instead properlyvfocused his argumeht (‘)n‘ proximate cause in
arguing that Canas was an'independenf intefirening cause, absolving Perla of liability for

the murder of Morales, which the jury rejected.14

E. Instructional Error—Failing to Instruct on Involuntary _Mdnslaughter

Finally, Perla éontends the trial court efred when it. failed to instruct the jury on
involuntary manslaughter as a lesser included offense of murder. Defense counsel
requested the jury be instruéted on "all lesser-included offénses to both Counts 1and 2,"

including involuntary manslaughter based on Perla's act of brandishing the gun. (See

generally § 417.) -

14 However, assuming arguendo the trial court erred when it failed to instruct the jury
- that Canas had to be acting in lawful self-defense when he fired the rifle in the direction

of, or at, Morales after he wrestled it away from Morales, we conclude that error was

harmless because it was not "reasonably probable" Perla would have obtained a more

favorable outcome had the alleged instructional error not occurred. (See People v.
Breverman (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142, 178.) '
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The trial court refused to instruct on involuntary manslaughter, ruling: "Here is
the problem I have [with involuntary manslaughter]. I think I said it before. I don't know
how you get around this. ... [TJhe problem is with provocative act murder, provocative

‘act provides if 'it’s proven thvat she intentionally—I think all the evidencevis she took the
gunout . .. am assuming that that evidence is correct; maybe it isn't. Bﬁt if the
evidence—most of the evidence in this case has suggested that Ms. Gonzalez took the
gun out of the car énd at some poinf handed it to Fernando Morales. [f] .Provocatiye act
givcs—as long as that's intentional—and T don't see any evidence it wasn'f,’ getting the
gﬁn out and giving it to him in that situation . . . ) [0 Th‘e argument on Voluntary
[manslaughter] is that self-defense—or imperfect self-defense or heat of passion might
négate the intent and therefore it Wéuld mean that it wasn't an intentional provoééﬁi_ve act.
Buf here I can't see hdw it wasn't intentional."

It is axiomatic thata " 'trialr court must instruct on a lesser offense n_eceSsarﬂy
included in the charged offense if there is substanﬁal evidence the defendant is guilty
only of the lesser.! [Citation.]" (Péople v. Lacefield (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 249, 256;
see also People v. Moye (2009_) 47 Cal:4th 537, 548.) "On the other hand, the court is not
obliged to instruct on theories that have no such evidentiary support . ... [9]....
_'Substantieﬂ evidence' in this context is ' "evidence from which a jury composed of
reasonable [persons] could . . . conclude] J"" tﬁat fhé kzsser offense, but not the greater,
was committed. [Citations.]" (People v. Breverman, supra, 19‘ Cal4th atp. 162))

‘ Al‘tﬁough involuntary manslaughter includes a killing that "occurs during the

- commission of a " ‘noninherently'dangerous felony,' " " 'the killing must be
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' uninteﬁtional' " and without malice. (People v. Dixon (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 1547,
1556.) Where the evidence unmistakably shows én intentional killing, no instruction on
involuntary mansl‘aﬁghter is required. (Id. atpp. 1556-1557 [no invdluntafy
manslaughter instruction required when the defendant fired five or six shots at victim,
twice hitting the victim in th; back]; People v. Hena’ricks (1988) 44 Cal.3d 635, 643 [no
involuntary manslaughter instruction required when, although thé defendant denied intent
to kill, he shot victims six times and five times r'espectively at point—Blank -range] )

Here, the evidence shows Perla grabbed the rifle, cocked it and handed it to

| Morales after Morales had. pulled a knife on, and cut, Canas, during a fight instigatéd by

“Morales and Perla, his accomplice, that had turned deadly. Based on such evidence, the
jury determl'med Perla intentionally did a provocative act, she knew that the natural and .

- probable consequences of the provocative act were dangerous to human life and then

acted with conscious disregard for life. On this record, we conclude tﬁé trial court did not

err in refusing to instruct on involuntary manslaughter,

DISPOSITION

The judgment of conviction is affirmed.

ke

BENKE, Acting P. J.

I CONCUR:

N Mn

IRION, J.
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Aaron, J., concurring aﬁd dissenting:

1 concur with the majority opinion, with the exception of section C (maj. opﬁ.,

p. 25), because I disagree with the majority's conclusion that this coﬁrt may deem the trial
court's instructional error on the intent element of provocaﬁve act murder harmless
beyond a reasona’blevd,oubt.

The majority concludes that the trial clourt erred in instructing the jury with respect
to premeditation and deliberation in relation to the charge of provocative act murder, but
further cdncludes that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because, in its
V‘iCW, "the evidence before us shoﬁs a rational jury would have found Perla personally | ‘
deliberat‘ed. énd-premeditated .the attempted murderkof‘ Canas." (Maj. opn,, p.32) -

During deliberations, the jury in this case sent a note to the trial court requesting
an instruction on second degreé murder. The jury note reads, "Is #39 for seconvd '.degree
murdér’?‘1 We need an explanation of 2nd de.greé murder." In response, the court répli.ad,
'"No," and referred the jury to CALCRIM 560, which in turn, referred the jury to the |
instruction on attempted .murder. That instructién informed the jury fhat it could ﬁnd' that_
Perla acted with prelﬁeditatjon and deliberatidﬁ "if either [Perla] or Fernando Mofales or
both of them acted with that state of mind." (Italics added.) This was a significant
misstatement of law because, in fact, in order to find Perlé guilty of first degree |
provocative a@t murder, the jury was required to find fhat‘ she personally acted with

premeditation and deliberation. (See People v. Concha (2009) 47 Cal.4th 653, 665

1 Instruction 39 was CALCRIM 570, "Voluntary Manslaughter: Heat of Passion —
Lesser Included Offense.”



(Concha D) ["[A] défendant charged with murder or a’;tempted murder can be held
yicariously liable for the actus reus of an accomplice, but, for murder, a defendant cannot
be held Vicariously liable for the mens rea of an accomplice"], citing Pébple v. McCoy
(2001) 25 Cal.4th 1111, 1118.)

In People v. Concha (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1072 (Concha IT), on which the
majority heavily relies, the Court of Appeal concluded that the error in failing to instruct
the jury that _it must find that the defendéﬁt personally acted willfully, delibérately, and
with premeditation in order to ﬁnd a defendant g\iilty of first degree 1nufder, was
harmless because "[t]h‘e evidence was such that beyond a reasénable doubt a rational jury
would have fduhd that each defendant deliberated and premedit'ated oo (ld at

D 1089.)' The Concha Il court reached th_is conciusion on the ground that there was no
basis to distinguish bet.ween‘the conduct of the four defendants, »s'mce, as the court notéd,
it was undisputed that all four defendants "chased [the Viétim] fo: a quarter mile with
deadly weaponé, »and participatéd in one fashton or another in the re_:peated énd brutal -
staﬁbing and beating of [the victim] after cérner‘ing him...." (Ié’. at p. 1090.) Here, in‘
| contrast, there is a signiﬁcant distiﬁction"between the conduct of Perla and that of her
accomplice, MOrales; While the jury found that Perla used aﬁrearrﬁ, under Penal Code
section 12022.53, subdivision (b), it also found that she did nof intentionally discharge a |
ﬁrearm'duringé the commission of the attempted murder, under Pehal Code section

12022.53, subdivision (c}. Based on these findings, one cani‘easonably infer that the jury



concluded that Perla handed the gun to Morales, but also concluded that she did not shoot

Canas.2

The majority's contention that "the evidence of Perla's premeditation and
deliberation in the attempted murder of Canas is equally as strong, if not stronger.than the
evvidence of attempt against the defendants in Concha [ and II" (maj . opn., pp. 32-33), is
simply not supported by the evidence. In Concha, it was clear that all of thebdef.endants
actively participated in the beating and stabbing of the Victim; in this case, in c'o'_ntrast, the
extent of Perla's participation in the attempted murder of Canas appears to have been
limited to her handing the firearm to Morales. Given that Morales fired at C.anas multiple
times, there was no real question that Morales premeditated and deliberated the shooting.
Becauvse Morales shot Canas ahd Perla did not, in this case, unlike in Concha 11, ther_e
- was ‘clearlyv a Ifa‘c;tual basis upon which a rational jury could have found that Moréles
premédit_ated and deliberated the shooting, but that Perla did .not. Thére_: is thus a real |
, "possibility th.at the iﬁstruétioﬁal error in this caselled the jﬁry to find that Perla |
premeditated and deliberated based not on a finding that éhe personally premeditated and
deliberated,‘ but rather, on a fmding that Morqles did.

Another critical factor that dist'mguishes the error in this case from the errdr n

Concha is the context in which the instructional error occurred. After having heard all of

2 The majority speculates that because the jury found that Perla used a Weapon,

under Penal Code section 12022.53, subdivision (b), "it is possible the jury concluded
Perla fired the weapon, but not intentionally." (Maj. opn., p. 7, fn. 4.) It is far more

likely that the jury's finding that Perla used a weapon is based on the undisputed fact that
she took the firearm out of her car and handed it to Morales. '
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the evidence, arguments, and jury instructions, and having deliberated for some period of
time, the jury in this case specifically requested an instruétion on second degree murder.
In response, the court directed the jury to an iﬁstruction that grossly misstated the law
regarding akey distinction between first and second degree murder. Thus, the efror in
this case was not, as the majority suggeéts, simply failing to instruct on an element of the
offense or providing the jury‘with an erroneous‘ instruction on the mental state required to |
find the defendant guilty, but rather, providing that erroneous /'mstruction to a deliberating
jufy that had asked for guidance on this specific issue. The majoﬁty inexplicably fails to
address the impact: of the trial c.ourt‘s erroneous response to the jury's pointed qﬁéstion in

its harmless error analysis, other than to st‘ate,-”If we were to . . . conclude the jury

question alone requires reversal of this case, we would be applying a per se reversible

~error standard, which is contrary to substantial controlling authority."3 '(Maj, opn.,
p. 29.)

Insfea‘d, in assessing whether the instructional error was harmless beyond a -
reasonable doubt, the majority iimits its inquiry to the abstract qqesti(m of whether a

hypothetical "rational jury" would have found that Perla prémeditated and deliberated.

3 In making this assertion, the majority constructs a classic straw man argument. [

am not suggesting that "the jury instruction alone" requires reversal, nor that a trial
court's providing an erroneous instruction to a deliberating jury would, in every instance,
require reversal. Rather, I have concluded that the instructional error requires reversal in
this case, because (1) the jury specifically requested that the trial court provide an
instruction on second degree murder; (2) in response, the court provided the jury with an
-incorrect instruction; and (3) under the facts of this case, the error in the instruction may
have led the jury to find Perla guilty of first degree murder based on a finding that

Morales premeditated and deliberated, and not on a finding that Perla personally
premeditated and deliberated.



However, .in >assessing the impact of the error, one cannot ignore the fact that the actual
jury speéiﬁcally reqﬁested an instruction on second degree murder and that in response,
the court directed the jury to an instruction that misstated the critical intent element. |
This court has recognized that, "there is no category of instrugtional error more
| prejudicial than when the trial judge makes a mistake in résponding to a jury's inquiry
during deliberations." (People v. Thompkins (1987) 195 Cal;App.Sd 244, 252-253))
- During its deliberations, the jury in this case sent the couft a note re’questipg a specific
instruction, and in response, the court provided an instruction that was legally incorrect.
In view of the circumstances in this case, the jury;s request for an instruction on second
degree ’murderrwas clearly a rational one. The fact that in response, the trial qourt
directed the jury to an instruction that was incorrect as to a crﬁical distinctio‘n befween
first degrée murder ahd sec_on’d' degree murder, i.e., premeditation and deliberation, and
that effectively invited the jury to find Perla guilty of ﬁrst degrcé murder if it found that |

Morales premeditated and deliberated, precludes a determination that the instructional

error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”

Lo

AARON, J.



